IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NUMBER 2009-TS-00310

LORI D. BROWN Plaintiff - Appellant

VERSUS

CHRISTOPHER CRUM Defendant - Appellee

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF LINCOLN COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

APPELLANT'S BRIEF ON BEHALF OF LORI D. BROWN

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

EDWIN L. BEAN, JR. Attorney At Law 729 Delaware Avenue P.O. Box 1322 (39649-1322) McComb, Mississippi 39648 601/684-7778 FAX: 601/684-7778

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2009-TS-00310

LORI D. BROWN

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

V.

CHRISTOPHER CRUM

DEFENDANT/APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. The Chancellor Improperly Treated The Proceeding As An Initial Determination Of Custody and Consequently Used The Wrong Legal Standard When He Failed to Apply The "Material Change" in Circumstances Test.
 - (A). The facts of this case and the distinction of the previous determination of custody distinguish the present case from the previous cases, and a different standard should be used. Custody in this case has already been determined.
 - (B). The Mississippi DHS support order and execution thereof should be considered an initial custody determination.
 - (C). The parties previously agreed to a determination of custody.
- 2. Crum waived his entitlement to an *Albright* analysis because of his delay in asserting custody.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. **Procedural History**

On October 8, 2008, the Chancery Court of Lincoln County awarded custody of Caelan and Brendon Crum, ages five and four years old respectively, from their mother, Lori Brown (hereinafter referred to as "Lori"), the appellant, to their father, Christopher Crum (hereinafter referred to as "Christopher"). After the Court awarded the children to Chris, Lori timely filed a Motion for Reconsideration which was denied by the Court. Aggrieved by the lower court's ruling, Lori perfected this appeal.

2. Statement of the Facts

At the time of the hearing, Christopher and Lori were the parents of two children, Caelan Sylvia Crum, five years of age and Brendon Jacob Crum, four years of age. (R.8.). At the time of the hearing, Lori lived at 1585 Fox Road, SE, Bogue Chitto, Mississippi, where she has lived for 5 ½ years. (R.14,85). At the time of the hearing on October 8, 2008, Christopher Crum lived in Arlington, Tennessee where he had lived for 2 ½ years. (R.8). Prior to that Christopher lived in Mendenhall in Bogue Chitto, Mississippi. (R.8). At the time of the hearing, Lori was a full-time nursing student attending Southwest Mississippi Community College. (R.14).

At the time of the hearing, Christopher was paying Lori the sum of (\$393.00) dollars per month as child support and had been paying that since their son was born. (R.22). Christopher was under a Department of Human Services Child Support Order at the time of the hearing. (R.19). Lori has the children on a regular bedtime schedule which is 8:30 every night while school is in. (R.28). Christopher and Lori met in Vaiden to exchange the children and that pattern had existed for a year in a half prior to the hearing. (R.11). The parties exchanged the children on an every other weekend basis. (R.8,11,16). Although there is no court ordered visitation, Lori allowed Christopher to visit with the children on holidays. (R.36-37). There are times that Christopher would stay home and take care of his two step-children while his current wife, Lisa, exchanged his and Lori's children for weekend visitations. (R.12). Christopher has been married twice once in 1997, which lasted for six months. At the time of the hearing he was married to Lisa Jodie Crum to where he married her on January 7, 2006, and resided with her and her two boys from a prior marriage. (R.9,89).

£

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The court should have applied the "material change in circumstances which adversely affects the child and subsequent best interest test", because at the time of trial, custody had been vested in the mother for five years with the father agreeing to a visitation schedule and continued payment of his child support obligations per a support order issued by DHS. DHS has the statutory authority to initiate and enforce support obligations, and therefore should have the authority to determine custody. Lori and Christopher agreed on the custody of the children and that agreement was executed for years without objection.

Christopher waived his right to an Albright analysis because of his delay in bringing the custody proceeding, and upon doing so, he should have been held to a higher evidentiary standard.

ł,

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

I. <u>THE CUSTODY PROCEEDING AT HAND SHOULD HAVE BEEN DEEMED A</u> <u>PROCEEDING FOR MODIFICATION OF CUSTODY. THE COURT ERRED IN</u> <u>USING THE WRONG STANDARD</u>

The custody proceeding at hand should have been deemed a proceeding for modification of custody thereby instituting the standard of the "material change in circumstances test." The "material changes" standard used in modification proceedings is dependent on there being a prior determination of custody. *Williams v. Stockstill*, 990 So.2d 774 (Miss.2008) citing *Law v. Page*, 618 So.2d 96 (Miss.1993). "Unless a prior custody determination has been made, custody is determined by the *Albright* factors." *Williams*, at 776, citing *Law*, 618 So.2d at 101; *Romans v. Fulgham*, 939 So.2d 849, 852 (Miss.Ct.App.2006); *C.W.L. v. R.A.*, 919 So.2d 267, 271 (Miss.Ct.App.2005); *S.B. v. L.W.*, 793 So.2d 656, 658 (Miss.Ct.App.2001). Historically, this rule of *Law* has been interpreted to require a judicial determination of custody. *Id.*

However, Justice Griffis, in a separate written dissent joined by Justices Southwick and Chandler, state that the rule only looks for "a prior determination' of custody. It does not require an express determination, nor an explicit ruling on custody." citing *Romans*, at 857 (Griffs, J., dissenting). As stated in the rule above, a mere *determination* of custody should be all that is needed to illicit a "material change" in circumstances test. Lori submits to this Court that <u>custody in this matter had previously been determined</u> and therefore the Chancellor used an incorrect legal standard in applying the initial determination of custody standard as presented in *Albright*.

A. <u>The present case presents a clear determination of custody, one not found in</u> previous cases.

The present case is distinguished from previous cases that have developed the law in this area. In *Law*, the father simultaneously petitioned for custody after his legal rights and duties as a father began. *Law*, at 97. Prior to the proceedings in *Law*, there was no DHS support order or any other determination documenting the responsibilities and duties of each of the parents. Christopher, on the other hand, not only acknowledged paternity of his children upon birth, but also accepted without objection the DHS support and visitation order initiated. (R.20,21,25). Lori testified that she had been receiving child support from Christopher in the amount of "\$393, total. ...Since right after my son was born." (R.25). Therefore, in sum, for years after acknowledging his children, Christopher accepted his role as "non-custodial parent" and duty to pay child support.

The father in *S.B.*, much like Christopher, acknowledged his child soon after birth. *S.B. v. L.W.*, at 657. However, in *S.B.*, there was <u>no child support or visitation order</u> from DHS in place. *Id.* The mother and father, living close and working opposite shifts, <u>both cared equally</u> for the child on a daily basis and shared equal custody with the child for the first five years. *Id.* There was no determination or difference in roles between the parents in *S.B.* as they shared equally in the care of the child.

In the present case, the difference is blatantly and patently obvious. The children have lived in the same home with Lori since birth. Unlike the father in *S.B.*, Christopher, <u>did not</u> <u>provide daily care</u> for his children <u>nor did he spend spend equal time with them</u>. Instead, he decided to move 300 miles away from his natural children in order to live with another woman

1

and *her two children*. Hence, Lori provided the daily care to the children as their primary care giver. Christopher and Lori had in place a DHS order and had previously determined custody and their subsequent roles, unlike in *S.B.* where no DHS support order was initiated and the parental roles were equal.

In *Williams*, the most recent case on this issue, a father instituted a paternity and support action but did not mention custody. Williams, at 775. The Chancellor held a conference. Id. Considering no custody claim from the father, the Chancellor awarded custody to the mother with provisions that the parties attend counseling and ordered the father to pay support. Id. A full hearing was never conducted. Id. Subsequent to the Chancellor's order, the father was allowed to supplement and amend his original petition adding a claim for primary physical custody. Id. After a full evidentiary hearing, the court used the initial determination of custody standard and granted custody to the father. Id. In the present case, Christopher's paternity was acknowledged and support ordered before any subsequent custody claim was made. In *Williams*, the conference and hearing were all one proceeding. The father was allowed to supplement and amend his original petition to include a claim for custody. *Williams*, at 775 (emphasis added). Therefore, the proceeding was one of paternity, support, and custody. Id. In the present case, Christopher acknowledged the children, and a DHS support order was in place prior to the custody proceeding. The present case is distinguished from *Williams*, and clearly shows a previous custody determination. Paternity had previously been acknowledged by Christopher. A DHS child support order was in place. The children lived with Lori in the same home for their entire lives. Christopher moved to Tennessee, 300 miles away from the children and has lived there for three years. The previous list of facts proves a determination was made as to the children's

interests and the roles of each parent. None of the previous cases that warranted an *Albright* analysis encompass the extent of facts that are included in the present case to prove a previous determination of custody. A more distinct, official, and sufficient determination existed prior to the proceedings in the current case, thereby warranting a different standard.

B. <u>The Mississippi DHS support order and execution thereof should be</u> considered a custody determination

Christopher, the acknowledged natural father of the two minor children, and Lori previously entered into a DHS support order. The Chancellor in the present case, despite the previous DHS child support order and acknowledged paternity, labeled the proceeding as an initial determination of custody. The very nature of a child support obligation is that one parent cares for the children on a daily basis and the other parent should provide assistance for that daily care. "Indeed, an order for child support necessarily rests on a determination that one parent is *awarded custody* and the other is not." *Romans*, at 857 (Griffis, J., dissenting). DHS has statutory authority to establish, initiate, and enforce child support orders. *See* Miss.Code Ann. § 43-19-31 (Rev.2004). Furthermore, DHS' purpose includes providing child support enforcement services or other services required by federal law or regulation. Miss.Code Ann. § 43-19-31(o) (Rev.2004).

In the federal appropriations act for the child support enforcement agency, the distinction of "custodial" and "non-custodial" is found 26 times. 42 U.S.C.A. § 666. Also, in the 1996 amendments to the federal statute, the legislature substituted the term "non-custodial" in place of the term "absent." *Id.* Also, as stated in the federal statute authorizing appropriations to states for child support services to needy families, "For the purpose of enforcing the support obligations

owed by non-custodial parents...there is hereby authorized to be appropriated...a sum sufficient to carry out the purposes of this part." 42 U.S.C.A. § 651. The statutes, amendments, and substitutions show the legislative intent and expectation for DHS to make a determination of custody thereby separating the parents into "custodial" parent and "non-custodial" parent in order to enforce, distribute, and initiate child support orders.

According to the current Mississippi case law, a DHS support order is not a determination of custody, and therefore cannot be enforced against a parent until he is given the distinction of "non-custodial" parent by a court. This would allow non-custodial parents to usurp their obligations with no consequence until they were given such distinction by a court. This is clearly not the intent of the legislature. The court should not limit the power and authority of DHS. DHS is authorized by statute to enforce support orders, and therefore also has the statutory authority to determine custody if necessary. The determination of custody in itself is what gives way to the enforcement against the "non-custodial" parent. If DHS is given the authority to initiate and enforce support orders, they must inherently have the authority to determine the parental distinctions needed. DHS must determine custody in order to fulfill its statutory duties. Furthermore, the Mississippi DHS application for a support order, is separated into two sections for information about the parents, one for "custodial parent" and the other for "non-custodial parent." Thereby creating an agreement or determination of custody between both parties, natural mother and father and supervised or approved by a statutory government authority. To say this is not a custody determination defies all logic, common sense, and reasoning. Claiming DHS does not have this authority would hinder the effectiveness of child support enforcement initiatives, and would be contradictory to federal statute requiring that states have procedures in

place to improve the effectiveness of child support enforcement. 42 U.S.C.A. § 666.

DHS has statutory authority and can provide custody determinations. It is illogical to say that DHS *cannot* determine custody but alternatively, *can* decide who owes child support and who receives it. <u>Child support orders in there very nature are reliant upon a determination of custody</u>. It must logically follow that if they have that authority they must also have same authority to make a decision that the support order previously relied on. Therefore Lori submits to this Court that <u>DHS support orders are previous custody</u> determinations by federal statute and the laws of the state of Mississippi cannot circumvent that federal statute and its intent. Furthermore, evidencing the legislative intent for higher standards of review, it is stated in federal statute that a state must have in place procedures for adjusting support orders **after three years** upon a showing by the party of a "substantial change in circumstances." 42 U.S.C.A § 666(a)(10)(B). The legislature, thereby, imposes a higher standard on custodial parents with longstanding DHS support orders, and Mississippi law should recognize this statutory designation and impose those same standards.

C. <u>The parties previously agreed by their actions to a determination of custody.</u>

Lori and Christopher previously had a custody agreement. Much like a contract, the two parties executed their responsibilities to this agreement and it lasted without objection from either party for years. Christopher executed his portion of the agreement by paying his monthly child support obligations and enjoying visitation, and Lori by allowing visitation and maintaining the children in her home as custodial parent. This agreement lasted from birth of the youngest child until filing of the petition.

In McCracking v. McCracking, 776 So.2d 691, 694 (Miss.Ct.App.2000), the court held

that the non-custodial parent must do more than convince the Chancellor that they could do a better job with the child when the prior custody arrangement had previously been agreed upon by the parents. Since Brendon's birth in 2004, Lori had full physical custody, with visitation to Christopher and no court challenges, objections or interference from him.

This idea of *de facto* custody is not new. Chief Justice King, in his dissent joined by Justice Carlton, in *Williams, Supra* stated that even though custody is not judicially determined by the court, ignoring the simple fact that one parent is the person responsible for the care and support of a child, thereby making then a "*de facto* custodian" is "contrary to reason and common sense ... Where a child has an established and longstanding custodial relationship, I think the court must consider and address the issue of " *de facto* custody." *Williams*, at 779 (King, C.J., dissenting). As custody had already been determined by agreement of the parties, sound logic dictates that Christopher must now show a substantial and material change in circumstances to modify that agreement.

II. <u>CHRISTOPHER WAIVED HIS ENTITLEMENT TO AN *ALBRIGHT* ANALYSIS BECAUSE OF HIS DELAY IN ASSERTING CUSTODY</u>

Christopher relinquished his rights to an *Albright* analysis due to his delay in petitioning for custody. Lori immediately asserted her custodial rights and fulfilled the role of custodial parent from the birth of the children while Christopher delayed for almost five years in asserting custodial rights. Christopher's delay should result in his forfeiture of an *Albright* analysis, in which each parent has equal status. Christopher's delay in bringing the custody action should subject him to a higher standard. The standard to be used after a failure to bring a timely custody proceeding should be that of the material change in circumstances test.

The Supreme Court of Mississippi concluded that in the absence of special factors, "all jurisdictions recognize the mother of an illegitimate child, if the mother is a suitable person, has the primary right to the child's custody." *Smith v. Watson*, 425 So.2d 1030, 1033 (Miss. 1983) citing *H. Clark, Jr., Law of Domestic Relations* 176 (1968); Annot., 98 A.L.R.2d 417, 420 (1972). "[U]pon acknowledging the child as his own, the father has an equal claim, with the mother, to the parental and custodial rights to the child." *Id.* citing *N. Hand, Jr., Mississippi Divorce, Alimony and Child Custody* 271 (1981). The Court then held, "If neither parent is fit or has abandoned the child, then the court is empowered to grant custody to some other suitable party." *Id.*

At the time a father asserts his paternity, he is deemed an equal parent. Once a father acknowledges his child he has an equal claim to custody. The equality rectifies the original <u>presumption</u> of maternal custody, <u>but not the subsequent realities</u> of maternal custody. If a father does not assert that equal custodial right upon acknowledgment then the equal footing status is forfeited. As stated in *Osborne v. Vince*, 129 So.2d 345, 348 (Miss.1961), "it is a well-established maxim that equity aids the vigilant, not those who slumber on their rights." Much like other areas of law do not allow parties the right to assert claims after the passage of time, the Court cannot do it here. The point in time meaning of the equal footing rule is shown by further reading. The next sentence states, "If neither party is fit or has abandoned the child, then the court is empowered to grant custody to some other suitable party." *Id.* Therefore, at the time of acknowledgment, the parties are equal, and if, at that time, neither is fit the court will grant custody to another. *Id.* The court will not wait to grant custody to another. If they are not fit at the time, they will lose their custodial rights, the court does not wait for them to become fit.

Similarly, if a father does not petition for custody at that time, he loses his equal right. The equal footing status does not attach to his custody right unless asserted at the time of acknowledgment. Suffice it to say, that upon acknowledgment by a father the previously automatic presumption of maternal custody is gone, but the present reality of continued custody remains.

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