IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NUMBER 2009-TS-00310

LORI D. BROWN Plaintiff – Appellant

VERSUS

CHRISTOPHER CRUM Defendant – Appellee

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF LINCOLN COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE'S BRIEF ON BEHALF OF CHRISTOPHER CRUM
ORAL ARGUMENT IS NOT REQUESTED

BRADLEY RUSSELL BOERNER, ESQ. BOERNER LAW FIRM, P.C. Attorneys at Law 117 S. Railroad Ave. P.O. Box 205 Brookhaven, Mississippi 39602-0205 Phone: 601-833-1128

Fax: 601-833-0161

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2009-TS-00310

LORI D. BROWN

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

V.

CHRISTOPHER CRUM

DEFENDANT/APPELLEE

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

In these three cases, it has been found that no custody determination was made prior to the order appealed. Brown makes no new allegation for this Court to consider with regard to applicable facts. Therefore, we would respectfully submit that the argument that the facts call for a distinction should fail.

It is important to note that the lower court did find that the "continuity of care" factor (from Albright) favored Brown. While there was no prior custody order, and, thus, no custody determination, the prior living arrangement of the children was recognized by the lower court and Brown was given credit for that arrangement. However, almost all of the remaining factors favored Crum. Brown makes no issue of the lower court's application of the Albright factors. We mention this to highlight the point that the lower court did not turn a blind eye to the prior arrangement of the parties, as Brown suggests in her appellate brief.

In conclusion, the caselaw is clear and abundant, the proper standard to be applied in the determination of custody when there is no prior court order determining custody is that of an initial Albright analysis. The lower court properly applied this standard and carefully considered each of the Albright factors in its analysis. Therefore, we would respectfully submit that this assignment of error has no merit.

(ii) Brown did not raise this issue in the lower court, and, therefore, did not preserve this issue for appeal.

This argument was never raised, never made part of an objection nor mentioned whatsoever in the lower court trial or on the hearing on Brown's motion to reconsider. In fact, as we have stated above, Brown, the appellant, initiated this matter in the lower court by filing a Complaint for Custody. There is no mention of the "material change" standard in her Complaint, throughout the trial or during the hearing on Brown's Motion to Reconsider.

"As a general rule, a litigant cannot raise issues for the first time on appeal because the trial judge had no opportunity to deal with the issue at the trial level." *Jones v. State*, 958 So. 2d 840, 843 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007), citing *Crowder v. State*, 850 So. 2d 199, 200 (P5) (Miss. Ct. App. 2003).

"The law is well settled in Mississippi that appellate courts will not put trial courts in error for issues not first presented to the trial court for resolution, and that issues not presented in the trial court cannot be first argued on appeal." *Robinson v. State*, 758 So. 2d 480, 490-491 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000), citing *Chassaniol v. Bank of Kilmichael*, 626 So. 2d 127, 133-34 (Miss. 1993). See also *Seaney v. Seaney*, 218 So. 2d 5 (Miss. 1969).

In fact, the *Romans* case, which we have discussed throughout our brief due to the similarities in facts and applicable law, addresses this very same issue, and held as follows:

We decline to find error in the trial court and adopt an argument that was not properly presented below. The contention that the paternity judgment was an initial custody determination was not raised at the chancery court level until after the chancellor had issued his bench opinion. In fact, Lisa's original counsel, during his closing argument, merely urged the chancellor to study the totality of the Albright factors in reaching his decision. In keeping with the holdings of Law v. Page, C.W.L. v. R.A., and S.B. v. L.W., the chancery court denied the motion to reconsider, thereby confirming the chancellor's decision that the issue should be treated as an initial determination, rather than a modification of custody.

Finally, in neither Lisa's motion to reconsider the bench opinion, nor either party's brief to this Court, is the argument made that Ryan has waived his entitlement to an Albright analysis by virtue of his delay in bringing the custody proceeding. Thus, we find this case is not an appropriate vehicle to alter the law in this area.

Romans at 853.

Although it was not argued by Brown in her brief (or at any time) that she should enjoy the benefit of raising issues for the first time on appeal, the dicta quoted above from the *Romans* Court confirms that this matter and cases involving initial custody determinations of children out of wedlock are no exception to the rule that a litigant cannot raise issues, arguments or assignments of error for the first time on appeal.

Therefore, we would respectfully submit that this assignment of error lacks merit, as it was not raised at any point in the lower court and is not properly before this Court.

(iii) Brown did not cite authority supporting her argument.

In this assignment of error, Brown fails to cite authority which supports her argument. While Brown does offer cites from Mississippi law, the cases and law cited are either completely irrelevant, do not support her argument, or are portions of dissenting opinions. Therefore, the opinions and statutes cited by Brown are mere ornaments of frill and distraction, which provide no foundation or support to the argument itself.

The Mississippi Court of Appeals recognized that portions of dissenting opinions are not binding precedent and, therefore, not supportive authority for an argument in *Brock v. Brock*, 906 So. 2d 879, 887 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). Therefore, citations taken from dissenting opinions cannot stand alone as law cited as authority for an argument.

The failure to provide citations to supporting law creates a procedural defect, precluding this Court from considering the assignment of error on appeal. *Turner v. Turner*, 612 So. 2d 1141, 1143 (Miss. 1993); *Grey v. Grey*, 638 So. 2d 488, 491 (Miss. 1994); *Devereaux v. Devereaux*, 493 So. 2d 1310 (Miss. 1986).

The above considered, we would respectfully submit that this assignment of error lacks merit, as no supporting law is properly cited by Brown and, therefore, should not be considered by this Court.

b. The Mississippi DHS support order and execution thereof should be considered an initial custody determination.

The issue is whether a DHS support order and execution thereof is recognized by law as an initial custody determination. We would again submit a three part response to this issue as follows:

- (i) A DHS order does not determine custody;
- (ii) Brown did not raise this issue in the lower court, and, therefore, did not preserve this issue for appeal;
- (iii) Brown did not cite authority supporting her argument.

In keeping with our organizational approach, we would elaborate on each argument accordingly and in the same order as posed above.

(i) A DHS order does not determine custody.

The Department of Human Service's "authority is limited to establishing paternity and establishing, modifying and enforcing support orders", while "related issues such as custody and visitation are not within the scope of their representation." D. Bell, Bell on Mississippi Family Law, 397 (2008), citing MCA 43-19-35 (3) (2004). Further, "in a proceeding brought by the legal section of [DHS] to adjudicate paternity and responsibility for child support, the mother is not a necessary party" and "[t]he only interest of the [DHS] is in seeing that the taxpayers are relieved of some, or all of the burden in supporting an indigent child." McCollum v. State Dep't of Public Welfare, 447 So. 2d 650, 653 (Miss. 1984); see also Minor v. State Dep't of Public

Welfare, 486 So. 2d 1253, 1255 (Miss. 1986); Hull v. State Dep't of Public Welfare, 515 So. 2d 1205, 1207 (Miss. 1987).

This is not the first time such an issue has been considered on appeal. In the *Romans* matter, the mother of the child at issue made an identical argument. We would quote the *Romans v. Fulgham* opinion exhaustively:

In our case, claiming that an initial custody determination was made as part of the 1997 judgment finding Ryan to be the natural father of A.F., Lisa argues that this matter should have been treated as a custody modification proceeding rather than an initial determination of custody. While Lisa concedes that the paternity judgment did not explicitly award her primary physical custody of A.F., she argues that, by ordering Ryan to pay her \$ 100 per month in child support, the chancery court implicitly awarded her primary physical custody of A.F. We do not find this argument persuasive. As an initial matter, we note that Lisa was not a party to the original paternity action. Rather, the action was initiated by the Mississippi Department of Human Services pursuant to its statutory authority to commence paternity actions. See Miss. Code Ann. § 43-19-31(b) (Rev. 2004). The Department of Human Services' enabling act contains no language even authorizing initiate it to custody proceedings. ***

While the Mississippi Supreme Court has noted that custody issues are routinely decided in paternity actions, it has also recognized that "a paternity action is not the most convenient or appropriate forum for determining the best interests of the child where custody actions are arranged to effectively and exhaustively address the issue." *Griffith v. Pell*, 881 So.2d 184, 187-88 (P12) (Miss. 2004).

We maintain the appropriate standard is one of an initial custody proceeding utilizing an Albright analysis in order to determine the best interest of the child.

Romans at 853.

In conclusion, by raising this issue, Brown asks this Court to overrule decades of caselaw and contradict state and federal statutes. A review of the applicable caselaw and statutes make it clear that a DHS order and/or the enforcement thereof are not an initial custody determination. Premises considered, we would respectfully submit that this assignment of error has no merit.

(ii) Brown did not raise this issue in the lower court, and, therefore, did not preserve this issue for appeal.

This argument was never raised, never made part of an objection nor mentioned whatsoever in the lower court trial or on the hearing on Brown's motion to reconsider. We would reassert this response, as it applies to each and every assignment of error. However, in the interests of brevity, we would provide an abbreviated version of this argument here and reassert the same argument as stated above.

"The law is well settled in Mississippi that appellate courts will not put trial courts in error for issues not first presented to the trial court for resolution, and that issues not presented in the trial court cannot be first argued on appeal." *Robinson*, 758 So. 2d at 490-491, citing *Chassaniol*, 626 So. 2d at 133-34.

Therefore, we would respectfully submit that this assignment of error is not properly before this Court, as it was not raised at any point in the lower court.

(iii) Brown did not cite authority supporting her argument.

In this assignment of error, Brown fails to cite authority which supports her argument. Brown cites a portion of the dissenting opinion from *Romans* and other statues which do not in any way support her argument.

The Mississippi Court of Appeals recognized that portions of dissenting opinions are not binding precedent and, therefore, not supportive authority for an argument in *Brock*, 906 So. 2d at 887. Therefore, citations taken from dissenting opinions cannot stand alone as law cited as authority for an argument.

The failure to provide citations to supporting law creates a procedural defect, precluding this Court from considering the assignment of error on appeal. *Turner*, 612 So. 2d at 1143; *Grey*, 638 So. 2d at 491.

The above considered, we would respectfully submit that this assignment of error lacks merit, as no supporting law is properly cited by Brown and, therefore, should not be considered by this Court.

c. The parties previously agreed to a determination of custody.

The issue is whether the parties agreed to a determination of custody prior to the lower court's hearing and whether such agreement, if made, has any bearing on a subsequent hearing on custody. We would submit a three part response to this issue as follows:

- (i) An agreement between parties regarding custody of their child, having no endorsement or resulting order from the court having proper jurisdiction, is not legally binding and should not be considered when determining custody;
- (ii) Brown did not raise this issue in the lower court, and, therefore, did not preserve this issue for appeal;
- (iii) Brown did not cite authority supporting her argument.

As we have above, we would elaborate on each argument accordingly and in the same order as posed above.

(i) An agreement between parties regarding custody of their child, having no endorsement or resulting order from the court having proper jurisdiction, is not legally binding and should not be considered when determining custody.

"In White v. Thompson, 822 So. 2d 1125, 1128 (P8) (Miss. Ct. App. 2002), this Court determined that a custody agreement entered into between the parties but never endorsed by a court of law did not have binding legal force so as to alter the analysis to be followed by the court in determining custody." Beasley, 913 So. 2d at 363. The White Court further held that such a situation called for an initial primary custody determination and affirmed the lower court's application of the Albright analysis. White, 822 So. 2d at 1128. Conversely, in Fletcher

v. Shaw, the parties, in fact, had a court approved contract establishing paternity and custody of the child at issue, and correctly applied the "material change" modification standard. Fletcher at 1215.

As addressed above and admitted by Brown, Brown and Crum had no court approved agreement or custody determination of any kind prior to this action. Brown and Crum lacked the authority and/or power to create a legally binding custody determination without the endorsement and subsequent order of the court having proper jurisdiction.

Of course, Brown is fully aware that there was no custody determination prior to this action, as Brown filed a Complaint for Custody to give birth to the litigation that followed. Further she reasserted the Albright application to be the proper standard in her Answer to Crum's Counter-Complaint, as she did not raise the issue. We have fully explored this above, and would reassert said arguments. We would invite this Court to review Brown's Complaint for Custody, Crum's Answer and Counter-Complaint and Brown's Answer to Counter-Complaint, all of which have been made excerpts to this brief.

Brown makes reference to *McCracking v. McCracking* as support of her argument that an out of court agreement between the parties is valid and establishes custody; however, there is no mention whatsoever of any out of court agreement in the *McCracking* matter. *McCracking v. McCracking*, 776 So.2d 691, 694 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000). Rather, McCracking is a case regarding an attempted modification of a Court Order, vastly different than any alleged out of court verbal arrangement. *Id.*

An agreement between parties regarding custody of their child, having no endorsement or resulting order from the court having proper jurisdiction, is not legally binding and should not be considered when determining custody. To hold otherwise would negate the judicial system with regard to custody and create a world of unenforceable and inconsistent custodial agreements

created by persons not trained or experienced in the practice of law. Accordingly, we would respectfully submit that this assignment of error is without merit.

(ii) Brown did not raise this issue in the lower court, and, therefore, did not preserve this issue for appeal.

This argument was never raised, never made part of an objection nor mentioned whatsoever in the lower court trial or on the hearing on Brown's motion to reconsider. In fact, as we have stated above, Brown, the appellant, initiated this matter in the lower court by filing a Complaint for Custody. There is no mention of the "material change" standard in her Complaint, throughout the trial or during the hearing on Brown's Motion to Reconsider.

"The law is well settled in Mississippi that appellate courts will not put trial courts in error for issues not first presented to the trial court for resolution, and that issues not presented in the trial court cannot be first argued on appeal." *Robinson* at 490-491, citing *Chassaniol* at 133-34.

Therefore, we would respectfully submit that this assignment of error lacks merit, as it was not raised at any point in the lower court and is not properly before this Court.

(iii) Brown did not cite authority supporting her argument.

In this assignment of error, Brown fails to cite authority which supports her argument. Brown cites *McCracking*, which was taken out of context and is irrelevant, and a portion of a dissenting opinion from *Williams* as support for this argument.

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